# Supreme Court of Nevada ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF THE COURTS

KATHERINE STOCKS
Director and State Court
Administrator



JOHN MCCORMICK Assistant Court Administrator

## **MEEING SUMMARY**

# Commission to Study Best Practices for Virtual Advocacy in Nevada's Courts

April 15, 2022 1:30 p.m.

Summary prepared by: Almeda Harper

Members Present:

Justice Hardesty (Co-chair) Justice Herndon (Co-chair)

Mr. John Arrascada

Judge Rebecca Burton

Judge Tara Clark Newberry

Judge Paige Dollinger

Mr. Steve Grierson

Judge Kriston Hill

Ms. Alicia Lerud

Judge Cynthia Leung

Judge Lori Matheus

Leslie Nino-Piro

Ms. Jennifer Noble

Ms. JoNell Thomas

Ms. Jennifer Noble

Guests Present:

**AOC Staff Present:** 

Ms. Jamie Gradick

Ms. Almeda Harper

#### I. Call to Order

- Justice Hardesty, being co-chair, called the meeting to order at 1:30 pm.
- Ms. Gradick called roll, a quorum was present
- Justice Hardesty thanked the members for providing detailed and thorough results for his request from the previous meeting.

#### II. Public Comment

• There was no public comment.

### III. Approval of previous minutes

• The summary of the April 14, 2022 meeting was unanimously approved with the following changes;

- Judge Burton requested an edit regarding her comments on virtual hearings by inmates. She would like the record to state that virtual hearings by inmates is great when it occurs, but because of the eighth judicial district court's population there has been some competition for those spots.
- Mr. Arrascada would like to have his comments updated to replace the second sentence with the following: virtual hearings, when conducted, must keep in mind the Nevada Supreme Court case Chaparro vs. State and the sixth amendment rights for clients and the right of confrontation.

#### IV. Review of Local Orders, Rules, Policies/Procedures

• Justice Hardesty commented materials from previous meetings will be listed on the agenda, in the future, for reference only unless members have a need to discuss previous materials.

## V. Jurisdictional Input: Review of Commission Membership Responses

- Justice Hardesty explained this section of the materials is a summary of the responses to the questions posed during the previous meeting. He asked each member present to comment on their input and add additional commentary if necessary.
- Mr. Arrascada explained an anonymous Google poll was conducted with nearly 50% participation. He found it to be remarkable that the responses were fairly uniform, although worded differently, in that the same critical stages of the criminal justice process should be in person. He also recognized virtual attendance as a benefit provided to clients by offering greater access to the courts without hindering their everyday lives.
  - Justice Hardesty requested more information on the IT challenges within the office.
- Mr. Arrascada commented IT was an issue in the past but has recently been corrected. He felt connectivity during the learning process was the main issue, noting a slow internet connection while staff work from home was a county related issue.
  - Justice Herndon asked the members to comment if their clients have trouble using the virtual platforms.
- Mr. Arrascada added it is a struggle to 'wrangle the client to Zoom'. Letters to clients were updated to include complete instructions on how to use Zoom. Some attorneys have spent upwards to 30 minutes prepping for virtual meetings, becoming a time-consuming process.
- Judge Dollinger commented in the beginning of the pandemic, becoming accustomed to the new virtual process was difficult. More time was spent educating and prepping clients on Zoom. Over time, clients and staff have become more comfortable and capable of operating Zoom. Judge Dollinger will keep an eye on the waiting room if she is running late. A vast majority of the people she has seen were indigent or transient with substance addictions and mental health issues, who often have major life struggles. Most of the clients have a smartphone, which offers a small level of access, but she feels a tablet or laptop would be ideal for virtual participation to allow clients to see the whole room and not just who's speaking.
- Mr. Arrascada added he appreciated Judge Dollinger's compliment to the tremendous amount of work their attorneys and staff perform in advance to ensure clients have smooth access to virtual court. He also added many clients do not have Wi-Fi access on their cell phones and struggle with finding free, local Wi-Fi through a library or casino.
  - Justice Hardesty commented this issue surfaced during the Ins of Court presentation recently. Our participants are the one struggling with the virtual attendance. Instead of becoming an access to justice, it may be a deprivation based on the limitations of people's access to Wi-Fi or broadband. Hopefully through the work being done by the

- state, the broadband will be expanded to the same speed as urban communities. The project will cost roughly \$50 million and is hoped to improve connectivity, but there will still be Wi-Fi challenges.
- Ms. Noble commented on the topic of broadband quality across the state. She has heard comments from colleagues this is a critical issue they are continuing to struggle with while planning to implement the bail bill from the last legislative session.
  - Justice Hardesty commented that some people are attempting to meet the 48-hour requirement through virtual communications yet, not all communities have that capacity. Some outer-lying urban areas are struggling with connectivity.
- Judge Matheus commented being disappointed in only receiving six out of 30 surveys which were conducted with local practitioners and judges. When first utilizing Zoom, there was an educational hurdle. The Clerks and attorneys did a fantastic job instructing participants through the process. Most users were able to appear virtually which seemed strange for a rural area to have less problems than urban areas. The problem becomes maintaining the connection once set up. With the comparatively low case load, only around five defendants did not have access and the court compensated by providing Wi-Fi from the court's lobby.
- Judge Hill commented she is generally opposed to virtual hearings but had a great experience recently during a guardianship meeting with a mildly autistic little boy. He and his guardian appeared virtually and gave a tour of the home. She was able to see his living space and thought it was amazing to see a glimpse of his home life. Guardians can report what they like but to actually see into the home and from his point of view was great. There are many struggles in Elko County with internet connections, IT assistance, and equipment malfunctions. Recently she was instructed by IT staff to hot glue camera wires for a quick fix during a hearing. Unfortunately, she does not carry a hot glue gun in the office and suggested her bailiff take up chewing gum in the event of future mishaps.
  - Justice Hardesty asked what has been the general approach taken by the three district court judges in Elko between virtual, in-person, and hybrid hearings?
- Judge Hill stated they have been working in a hybrid situation where most of the staff expect to be in-person and have not denied access to appear virtually.
- Judge Clark Newberry commented the Eighth Judicial District's IT infrastructure in BlueJeans was already set up before the pandemic, although used sparingly. Since the onset of the pandemic, the IT department has made improvements to meet the courts needs. The current problems usually occur with parties outside of the court needing instruction on how to access hearings. There are many internet hot spots available to the public. Due to the high level of tourism, there are often many witnesses and defendants that reside elsewhere and find themselves involved in court proceedings. There has been a higher participation rate in victim speakers when conducting virtual hearings. Trials have also been quicker because witnesses and experts can appear virtually, eliminating the need for travel. There have been many positive improvements in the IT development and video conferencing abilities.
- Judge Jones commented their IT team has done a phenomenal job supporting the staff during the pandemic. A hybrid system would be ideal, unfortunately, it has been hard to determine when inmates should appear virtually or in-person. They do intend to bring inmates back for out-of-custodies. They have utilized BlueJeans to allow witnesses and victim families to watch trials from out of the state. BlueJeans has also cut down on using taxpayers' resources to purchase hotel rooms and plane tickets.
  - Justice Hardesty asked Judge Jones to expand on the in-custody challenges for the eighth district and their jails.

- Judge Jones added, when the pandemic first hit, we had to go completely virtual. The case load was so large that the judges needed to split their calendars. Each criminal judge had two days per week for criminal calendars which were staggered throughout the day causing challenges when holding trials and ensuring staff receive breaks. Senior judges were asked to cover calendars while criminal judges were in trial which caused significant issues with incustody situations. It was also difficult when inmates couldn't understand portions of the guilty plea agreement because the attorneys didn't have the ability to speak with them. There is only one phone, so time and resources are limited. It has been a hindrance in resolving probation revocations due to the difficulty for the attorney to communicate with their clients. Staffing shortages have also caused issues with the District Attorney and Public Defender's offices leading to last minute changes in assignments. Inmates are expected to return to the court room by April 25, 2022. The court will be open to the public and criminal calendars will move back to a morning schedule.
  - Justice Hardesty asked if there has been a similar challenge in the Second Judicial District as he heard there may have been objections from the Sheriff and staff to transport in-custody inmates to the courthouse.
- Ms. Lerud commented she feels all agencies have been struggling with staffing. The Sheriff's office was not opposed to conducting transports but struggle with how to do them. If the court holds in-person and virtual hearings in the same day, the Sheriff's office doubled their staff to ensure coverage at the jail and during transport. The sheriff's office was able to create two new virtual courtrooms at the jail. The spaces have not been ideal as they are small, and the walls are thin allowing for noise to carry between the rooms. Attorney-client communication continue to be a challenging. The public defender's office has been sending their attorneys back to the jail, solving some of the communication issues.
- Judge Hill commented she uses the courtroom in the jail. Her colleagues are holding hearings virtually and do not use the jail courtroom with inmates appearing both virtually and in-person.
- Judge Jones commented the detention center has been short staffed and overburdened with increased demand on their staff. She has been working with the Nevada Department of Correction to implement video conferencing and limit the need for transporting inmates.
  - Justice Hardesty commented he received an update from the Nevada Department of Corrections stating the process of procuring Cows (mobile video units) and improving connectivity issues has been delayed as prisons have now been included in the project. The prison will be ready to procure equipment as soon as EATS can complete the bandwidth expansion.
- Ms. Nino Piro commented she met with a couple of the Federal Magistrate judges and a representative from NDOC. They stated fiber was being installed in the NDOC facilities, which was the largest hurdle in installing the new virtual hearing equipment. The projected installation date was the end of June.
- Judge Burton commented a questionnaire was sent out to all judges in the Eighth District and she received a very large response. A local rule was put into effect for the family division making virtual hearings the default, with the exception of evidentiary hearings and contempt matters. For a year she conducted hearings virtually, finding trials to be difficult with the mask mandate. It was very hard to hear people in the courtroom when wearing masks, making virtual hearings the preferred method of holding hearings. There are human components people seem to like regarding in-person hearings. The responses from juvenile court stated they liked the ability to look people in the eye. Judges felt they are better able to gain compliance, cooperation, and respect. It can sometimes help resolve a case in the family

department. People, at one time, loved each other. Helping them to connect in the courtroom can help with a resolution. The civil domestic department agreed a majority of hearings can be done virtually. Juvenile court would like a hybrid system excluding day court, who have preferred in-person hearings due to the nature of their clients. The family support division and the District Attorney's office would like to hold remands in-person. Child support and juvenile delinquency would like to have transports, but the court is not fully open while Covid is still an issue. Holding TPR or divorce hearings virtually have been working very well. The Child Support District Attorney's office would like more virtual timeslots. TPO and juvenile delinquency have most of the time slots as they have a majority of the cases. Domestic violence takes precedence as TPO hearings have specific timelines to abide by. The court is prioritizing the best possible with the population and the limited space on the calendar. The criminal department mentioned communication with attorneys have been very difficult due to the vast number of people involved. Virtual hearings have gone well so far, other than the usual IT challenges, most of which occur outside of the court. She mentioned possibly creating a partnership with the local libraries or schools that might allow people to have easy access to a public computer dedicated to appearing virtually.

- Judge Leung commented the criminal misdemeanor universe is very specific and will lend itself to a more streamline process. Only a small number of attorneys responded to the request for information. In general, her jurisdiction prefers in-person hearings for anything being contested and treat hearings on a case-by-case basis. If parties request virtual hearings, and are in agreement, judges usually accommodate them. Internet issues have been occasional. There have been some issues when interacting with the jail but it's all under the umbrella of the city using outdated equipment. She has been working with them on upgrading equipment. Most parties prefer to have contested hearings in person. During the shutdown people were able to hold plea agreements via telephone conversations and put them on record with the agreement of the parties involved. Virtual hearings have been very helpful with out-of-state defendants, but that's when most of the connectivity issues occur. Explaining how to attend virtual hearings is a quick process and the court provides forms to the public and attorneys to assist in the process.
  - Justice Herndon inquired as to whether the judges have seen a difference between Zoom or BlueJeans?
- Judge Leung replied she believed the issue was that Zoom did not work with the JAVS or Court Smart recording programs. BlueJeans is the program they chose as it works with their recording systems. Sometimes BlueJeans has not work and the reasons for this is unknown as it doesn't seem to be consistent. When these problems occur, the hearing is continued on speaker phone so it will be captured on Court Smart.
- Mr. Grierson commented the Eighth District originally chose to use BlueJeans due to cost as it was not utilized often. There have been issues with network connections which affect their BlueJeans more than any other issue. Their IT department was able to integrate BlueJeans into the JAVS system which has made it a valuable platform for the Eighth District.
- Ms. Lerud commented the Second District uses Zoom with a bridge system allowing JAVS to record as well. Her predecessor investigated all virtual platforms, and at the time, Zoom was the best option. They have been very happy with it so far. Early on there were concerns regarding security, and that was her understanding of why some agencies chose BlueJeans instead. There were disruptive issues with the chat function being used inappropriately and has since been shut down.
- Judge Hill commented they have normally used Zoom but were able to easily set up a BlueJeans meeting to accommodate an inmate.

- Judge Tires commented the Sparks Justice Court staff have been using a Zoom interface with JAVS very successfully for some time and recently upgraded with a new JAVS system. Judge Tires' court is relatively small, and use Zoom exclusively, although he has used JAVS as a backup. The quality of recording through Zoom has been far superior to the JAVS system. Zoom hearings have been very successful in all types except for jury trials. The court has been operating on a hybrid system, successfully holding virtual and in-person hearings at the same time. The system has been pieced together very inexpensively. The audio-visual components cost roughly \$3,000 and the two licenses with Zoom cost \$150 per year. Being a border town with a high tourist rate, they have been pleased to offer virtual proceedings for customers who reside out of the area, limiting the burden and hardship of traveling to a court hearing.
- Ms. Thomas commented early in the pandemic she acquired laptops and cameras for everyone in the office. The technology and internet have been working fine. The problem has been with thin walls and loud employees leading to conversations being overheard. Space was made available in the office for individuals with out internet access. Most clients have been in-custody but those who are not, especially the homeless, should not be expected to navigate virtual proceedings on their own. In her opinion, the magic happens when everyone appears in-person. This allows staff to ensure the clients emotional wellbeing, answer last minute question or getting the District Attorney's attention, all of which have been hard to do virtually. She would like to see status check move to a completely e-mail based format. She felt excited to get back to court, focus on the clients, and have afternoons open to visit clients or participate in investigations. Having staggered court hearings has been difficult, leaving staff with less time to complete job duties. There has been a need in the rural jurisdictions for virtual hearing, especially for 48-hour hearings. Certain situations lend themselves to appearing virtually, such as defendants in detention centers, clients who become ill and should not appear in-public, out-of-state clients, and sentencings. One positive outcome from virtual sentencings has been the lack of fights in the courtroom. Ms. Thomas believes better results are obtained when hearings, especially settlement conferences, can be held in-person. Clients feel they have been listened to and heard. Being able to drop in on a court proceeding simply to monitor the event has been very valuable from a management perspective. She would love the have the ability to watch trials and run the office at the same time although, there is conflict between running BlueJeans and the Elmo system simultaneously.
- Judge Jones commented her IT staff were able to correct the problem between BlueJeans and her recorder.
- Ms. Thomas added she was nervous about using YouTube as a viewing option as it undermines the exclusionary rule. Using BlueJeans requires login credentials, helping to maintain confidentiality. She would like to see better control measures on log-in names, at times outside parties have used profane language and were removed from virtual calls. She would also like to see more training to settle small details like muting microphones for people instead of constantly asking them to mute themselves. In-person hearings should be reserved for larger events to reduce the inconvenience of transporting clients who would need to quarantine afterwards.
- Justice Herndon added that he agreed with Ms. Thomas referring to the "magic" in the court akin to the New Your stock exchange. The state of the court room prior to the Judge appearing being a state of good chaos where things can be resolved. He also felt a portion of the backlog could be due to negotiations falling apart during virtual meetings and lack of communication.

- Ms. Thomas commented the Clark County courts do not have a backlog at this time, having resolved more cases this year than ever before. They would have resolved more cases if they had met in-person. The ability to meet in-person, especially for clients that need an interpreter, is very important. She tries to hire and match Spanish speaking attorneys with clients as often as possible. It has been a good practice to have all parties involved in the same place. The detention center does not have a court room and council cannot go into the detention center to meet with clients before a calendar. Having the District Attorney in the court room with the judge while the rest of the attendees are at the detention center also has not been ideal in criminal cases.
- Ms. Nino Piro commented with civil cases, should be treated differently especially with inmates' civil rights cases. Virtual hearings have put inmates on the same, equal footing as the attorney. Prior to the pandemic, during virtual hearings or settlement conferences, the attorney would be in court with the judge or mediator, and the inmate would appear virtually. Having everyone appear virtually helped facilitate settlements and streamlined the process. Another advantage of virtual hearings has been the ease of accessibility for language and disabilities, physical impediments, and medically compromised individuals. The overwhelming majority of the attorney's were in favor of discovery hearings and non-dispositive motions appearing virtually and dispositive motion should be in-person. Some information was not listed in the overview of the information provided by the Attorney General's office. Ms. Nino Piro will provide the missing information to Ms. Gradick to be added to the overview. It would be helpful to have uniform orders or standings sent out to participants regarding muting, exhibits, confidentiality, witness sequestration, centralized postings of virtual hearing links, additional IT staff, and training and resources for litigants.
- Justice Hardesty asked if inconsistencies among judges in the handling of virtual vs. inperson hearings have been problematic.
- Ms. Nino Piro commented that was part of the feed back she received from a District Attorney General. In criminal matters, courts should ask the defendant if they wish to waive their presence to appear via audio visual means. Not all departments were asking or offering the option.
- Mr. Arrascada commented he feels it is not inconsistencies by the departments, rather it is inconsistencies with how everyone approaches the process. Significant in-custody arraignments or sentencings were held via Zoom from the jail and attorneys would appear with their clients. Other times the attorneys would appear via Zoom if their schedule wouldn't permit an in-person appearance. To echo what Ms. Thompson said earlier, the magic happens in the court room. All five senses are often needed for sentencing by sensing someone's sincerity that may not come across virtually. Mr. Arrascada feels, with the new statewide rules for criminal procedure, arraignments can be don remotely. Under rule 17, an attorney cannot argue for an O.R. release for a client and then enter a plea. It needs to be raised by motion unless there is a stipulation with the pardon. In his opinion, this could be done virtually but he prefers sentencings to be done in-person.
- Ms. Noble commented in her area of practice, post-conviction litigation, there have been judges in the Second Judicial Court that continue to appear virtually and has not been problematic, in fact, it can be easier depending on where the inmate is located. There have been some variations between departments when handling cases. For example, she had a cross examination of a petitioner and with the person's particular characteristics, appearing virtually would have made the meeting difficult. She does not see any problems with inconsistency in the Second Judicial District.

- Ms. Thomas commented the judges have a varied approach when it comes to virtual
  appearances and their schedule. Some call people to court first, others call virtual meetings
  first. Some judges choose not to appear on camera which Ms. Thomas feels should not be
  allowed.
- Justice Hardesty asked if there are any reasons why the judicial officers should not be present in the court room for all proceedings? There have been numerous concerns expressed from the public and lawyers regarding being able to enter a court room and observe a court proceeding. For one reason or another, some judges have been practicing from home most of the time. Operating a public courthouse and a public business, the public has a right to observe those proceeding. Should we return to a centralized courtroom?
- Justice Herndon commented there will be illnesses which might cause some exceptional circumstances. Generally speaking, the judges and court staff should always be present in the courtroom to ensure efficiency and the option to appear in-person should always be available.
- Judge Hill agreed with Justice Herndon stating it is important for judges to be present absent an emergency situation or a planned event which prevents the judge from being in the courtroom. A colleague from another district reached out with concerns regarding judges that hadn't appeared in a courtroom in two years.
- Judge Clark Newberry commented there have been exceptions and appearing virtually should be the exception. Appearing virtually made it possible for Judge Clark Newberry to continue to work during the pandemic as she has an immunocompromised family member. Once covid began to turn around, she was able to return to the courtroom in-person. Virtual appearances also limit the need to find coverage, allowing a judge on vacation to appear quickly from anywhere. She felt her staff work better together in-person, in the courtroom. The only time the courthouse was closed was when orders from the Chief Judge indicated it was necessary while the pandemic was peaking. In those situations, having the ability to appear virtually is very beneficial. Remote access and having a proper remote courtroom for each judge is important to maintain as it is unknown when these rooms will be needed.
- Judge Jones commented she agreed with many of the statements heard so far including the fact that it is time the judges return to court. In her experience with criminal cases, it has been difficult for the judges to not be present. Defendants haven't shown the correct level of respect and may not take the proceeding seriously. Judges have run into issues controlling their courtroom virtually yet command their in-person hearings without issue. It's important the judges be present, and the courtrooms be open to the public as there are individuals who do not have access to BlueJeans or own cell phones. During the Covid outbreaks, people were allowed into the courtroom one at a time, all the while maintaining a clean environment. It was difficult to close a public building and to deny public access to justice when they don't have access to modern technology.
- Judge Berton commented when she attends virtual hearing from her chambers. When she is in the courtroom, the camera placement is not optimal, making her seem very small and far away to the viewer. She also has a difficult time seeing others appearing virtually as the screen is so far away. She will look into camera adjustments, if possible, but judges should be back in the courtroom.
- Justice Herndon commented when he was in virtual hearings, he was certain the other parties had his volume muted and were not paying attention. Judges have incredible sway by their conduct in a courtroom to create efficiency and resolution and move things along. This may not happen if the judge is sitting in their living room and doesn't feel like being productive.

- Judge Dollinger commented she agreed with Judge Clark Newberry's comments and felt, as a family court judge, the differences between family and criminal proceedings are vast. She feels judges should return to the courtroom. She has many of the same technological issues as Judge Burton and adjustments are needed in the different court rooms. She found she has more control over virtual hearings when appearing from her office vs. her courtroom, including the ability to mute other parties as a co-host. She also agreed with the report provided by Mr. Willock sating the information was spot on from a family court point-of-view.
- Ms. Lerud commented several of the Second District court judges continue to report remotely from locations outside of the courthouse. She felt judges should be appearing in-person and the option to appear virtually should be granted to the parties outside of the court staff. They are utilizing virtual appearances for expert witnesses instead of having them fly into the area. Technological upgrades to make the virtual process easier are expensive. The Second District has contracted to spend roughly one million dollars on IT updates throughout their 21 courtrooms.
- Mr. Grierson commented judges are appearing both in-person and virtually in the Eighth District. The district has solved most of their IT and budget issues. Two mobile court rooms were purchased to allow for virtual hearings anywhere in the valley.
- Judge Burton commented her experience with virtual hearings spanned well before the pandemic. She recently held a trial in which all parties except the expert witness appeared in-person and there were no issues.
- Judge Jones commented she has not experienced any challenges within the courtroom. Her IT staff are in the process of upgrading their BlueJeans account to allow family viewing of an upcoming death penalty trial.
- Justice Hardesty commented that the probate commissioner in the Second Judicial District
  has been using zoom for telephone calls as it has a superior connection. The commissioner
  has used this technique to review the consent calendar with many people on a reliable
  connection. Justice Hardesty asked the members if they have used the virtual applications in
  this capacity.
- Judge Jones stated people have successfully called in without video.
- Judge Berton added this happens often with self-represented litigants.
- Judge Clark Newberry commented they often have connectivity issues. If this occurs during a hearing, she will ask the party to turn off their video to make the audio connection stronger. If the connection is still bad, she will ask them to disconnect and call back using the phone option. The person has usually been sufficiently identified on record by this piont. She intends to make BlueJeans available for all future calendars as it enhances transparency to the public and eliminates the barrier of transportation, infirmary, etc. The breakout sessions have been useful during confidential matters. She informed Justice Hardesty that she hears both criminal and civil cases.
- Judge Leung commented the judges in her district feel in-person operations work best. She has also turned off the video and only used audio if the connection is bad.
- Justice Hardesty announced the creation of four subcommittees for the Virtual Advocacy Commission. They will be uniform rules for criminal cases, uniform rules for civil cases, uniform rules for family cases, and uniform rules for limited jurisdiction cases. Each subcommittee will need to analyze the member input gathered (and included in the materials for the 4/15/22 meeting) to "reconcile the pros and cons" of virtual hearings and determine in which matter virtual hearings should occur by default and in which

instances live hearings should occur by default. They were asked to present their opinions in either a general consensus or, if they cannot agree, to offer a majority view and a dissent. Justice Herndon has agreed to chair the criminal subcommittee with Judge Jones, Mr. Arrascada, Ms. Thomas, and Ms. Noble as members. Judge Dollinger and Judge Burton will co-chair the family subcommittee with Judge Hill as a member. Justice Hardesty will chair the civil subcommittee with Judge Clark Newberry and Judge Hill as members. Judge Saragosa and Judge Leung will co-chair the limited jurisdiction subcommittee. He also requested to have Ms. Lerud and Mr. Grierson provide administrative feedback to the subcommittees. The subcommittees should meet at least twice before the next general committee meeting. He also requested that Ms. Lerud ask Chief Judge Simons if she would like to recommend a member for the civil subcommittee. He asked the members attending the upcoming Judicial Leadership Summit to discuss the virtual advocacy subcommittees with their colleagues and collect additional members.

## VI. Adjournment

• There being no further comment, the meeting was adjourned at 3:30 pm.